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INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to ORS § 756.500 Gardner Capital Solar Development, LLC (“Gardner1

Solar”) brings this complaint against Idaho Power Company (“Idaho Power”), regarding Idaho2

Power’s failure to comply with Oregon Schedule 85 and provide standard Energy Sales Agreements3

(“ESA”) with current long-term standard avoided cost prices after Gardner Solar submitted six4

separate applications for ESAs for Qualifying Facilities (“QF”) that it is developing in Oregon. Idaho5

Power has informed Gardner Solar that it will not be processing its applications. On April 24, 2015,6

Idaho Power filed with Public Utility Commission of Oregon (the “Commission”) a Motion for7

Temporary Stay of its Obligation to Enter into New Power Purchase Agreements with Qualifying8
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Facilities, as supplemented on May 8, 2015 (“Motion”). The Commission should grant this1

Complaint and mandate that Idaho Power meet its Schedule 85 obligations and enter into ESAs as2

required by federal and state law.3

As is supported by the Direct Testimony of Joe Benga, Senior Vice President &4

General Manager of Solar Development at Gardner Solar (“Benga Testimony”) and the5

Exhibits attached thereto, Gardner Solar alleges in its Complaint against Idaho Power the6

following:7

IDENTITY OF THE PARTIES8

1. The Complainant is Gardner Solar, a Missouri limited liability company9

qualified to do business in Oregon. Gardner Solar’s address is 1414 East Primrose, Suite 10010

Springfield, Missouri 65804. Gardner Solar is a wholly owned subsidiary of Gardner Capital, Inc., a11

Missouri corporation.12

2. The Respondent is Idaho Power, whose business address is 1221 West Idaho13

Street, Boise, Idaho 83702.14

APPLICABLE STATUES AND ADMINISTRATIVE RULES15

1. The Commission has jurisdiction over this Complaint and Idaho Power16

pursuant to ORS §§ 756.040 and 756.500. Idaho Power is also subject to the jurisdiction of the17

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”).18

2. This case involves the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act (“PURPA”)19

avoided cost provisions, FERC’s regulations and related state regulations. The Oregon statutes20

expected to be involved in this case include ORS § 756.040, ORS §§ 756.500 through 610, and ORS21

§§ 758.505 through 545. The federal statutes and regulations that are implicated include 16 USC22
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§ 824, et seq., PURPA, 16 USC § 2601, et seq., and federal rules promulgated pursuant to PURPA,1

18 CFR § 292.301, et seq. The Commission rules expected to be involved in this case include those2

within OAR chapter 860.3

FACTUAL BACKGROUND4

1. Gardner Solar is a leading developer of utility scale solar projects that is5

developing solar projects in the state of Oregon.6

2. Gardner Solar’s QF projects that are the subject of this Complaint are all7

protected by PURPA and existing regulations promulgated by the Commission and entitled to ESAs,8

because the projects have a nameplate capacity of 10 MW (AC) or less and are intended to supply9

power to Idaho Power. Gardner Solar’s six QF projects and the data on which they submitted10

complete Schedule 85 applications are as follows:11

 Olds Ferry Solar (April 7, 2015)12
 Owyhee Solar (April 7, 2015)13
 Malheur River Solar (April 7, 2015)14
 Cooper Solar (April 7, 2015)15
 Fourth Ave Solar (April 7, 2015)16
 Fairway Solar (May 6, 2015)17

3. As indicated, Gardner Solar submitted formal requests to Idaho Power for five18

separate Schedule 85 ESAs on April 7, 2015. (Benga Testimony at 3, lines 2-5) Idaho Power19

acknowledged receipt of the materials by e-mail that same day. (Id., lines 5-6) A formal request for20

the sixth project was submitted on May 6, 2015. (Id., lines 6-8)21

4. Schedule 85 is Idaho Power’s Commission-approved tariff implementing22

standard contracts for QFs pursuant to PURPA and it requires that Idaho Power provide Gardner23

Solar within 15 business days following receipt of each completed application a draft ESA including24

current standard avoided cost prices.25



Public Utility Commission of Oregon
Complaint of Gardner Capital Solar Development, LLC
Page 4

5. For the initial five projects, Idaho Power responded by letter to Gardner Solar1

on April 27, 2015. (Id., lines 17-18) Idaho Power acknowledged that it was in receipt of Gardner2

Solar’s applications but did not include the required draft energy sales agreement with current3

standard avoided cost prices or describe any deficiencies or irregularities suggesting that the4

applications were insufficient or that Gardner Solar’s QF projects were ineligible for standard5

contracts. (Id., lines 18-23) Idaho Power has not as yet responded to the submission by the sixth6

project, Fairway Solar. (Id., lines 8-9)7

6. Idaho Power’s April 27, 2015 letter informed Gardner Solar that it had filed the8

Motion with the Commission to stay its obligation to enter into new ESAs with QFs pending the9

outcome of three accompanying applications that were filed with its Motion: “Application to Lower10

Standard Contract Eligibility Cap and to Reduce the Standard Contract Term,” “Application for11

Approval of Solar Integration Charge,” and an “Application for Change in Resource Sufficiency12

Determination” (the “Applications”). (Id. at 4, lines 2-4) Idaho Power further stated that its letter13

and its reference to the Motion and the three Applications serve as its response within 15 business14

days to Gardner Solar’s applications for the ESAs under Schedule 85. (Id., lines 4-6)15

7. On April 28, 2015, Gardner Solar sent Idaho Power a letter requesting that they16

reconsider their actions with respect to projects that have already submitted Schedule 85 requests and,17

thus, triggered Idaho Power’s legal obligations to provide ESAs. (Id., lines 8-10)18

8. On May 8, 2015, Idaho Power responded to Gardner Solar’s April 28, 201519

letter and stated that it has no legal obligation to provide draft ESAs pursuant to Schedule 85 based20

on Gardner Solar’s applications. (Id., lines 12-13) The letter restated that Idaho Power responded to21

Gardner Solar’s applications within the required 15 days and was seeking an expedited hearing in22
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front of the Commission to “suspend its obligation to enter into any further PURPA contracts or1

obligations prior to such time that the [Commission] issues a ruling on its [Applications], and until2

updated avoided cost rates are put in place.”3

9. On May 8, 2015, Idaho Power filed a “Supplement” to its Motion reiterating its4

request that the Commission stay its Schedule 85 obligations and stating that seven projects5

representing 55 MWs have made formal requests for a draft ESA prior to the date it filed its Motion.6

(Supplement at 2, lines 12-17) Idaho Power further stated that nine more Projects representing 807

MWs submitted Schedule 85 requests after it filed its Motion and that these projects filed a formal8

complaint against Idaho Power in Docket UM 1731. (Id., lines 19-20, 24-26)9

10. On May 13, 2015, Gardner Solar submitted a Protest and Opposition to Idaho10

Power’s Motion. In its filing, Gardner Solar argues among other things that Idaho Power’s Motion11

must be denied because it fails to (i) meet the legal standard for granting a motion to stay, (ii) show12

that it would suffer irreparable injury if it enters into contracts with projects that already submitted13

their Schedule 85 requests prior to the date it filed the Motion, (iii) assert any colorable claim of error14

in prior Commission orders establishing avoided cost rates, (iv) provide sufficient precedent for the15

Commission to freeze Idaho Power’s obligations under PURPA, (v) comply with the “filed-rate16

doctrine,” and (vi) meet a “legally enforceable obligation” (“LEO”) created when Gardner Solar17

submitted complete and formal requests for ESAs.18

11. The Commission issued a Notice of Prehearing Conference with respect to19

Idaho Power’s Motion and Applications on May 7, 2015. The Prehearing Conference is scheduled for20

May 20, 2015.21
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12. As of the submission of this Complaint, Idaho Power has not provided Gardner1

Solar any draft ESAs as required by Schedule 85.2

COMPLAINANT’S CLAIMS FOR RELIEF3

1. Idaho Power re-alleges and incorporates all preceding paragraphs as though4

fully stated herein and in support of this Request for Relief.5

2. Idaho Power must provide draft ESAs under current standard avoided cost6

prices to the six QF projects identified above, all of which submitted their Schedule 85 requests prior7

to the date that the Commission provided public notice of Idaho Power’s Motion.8

3. Idaho Power’s failure to comply with its Schedule 85 obligations and its9

refusal to execute new ESAs at current standard avoided cost rates is improper, illegal, and harms10

both the public and QF project developers including Gardner Solar. See 16 U.S.C. § 824a-3(a)(2); 1811

CFR § 292.304(d)(2)(ii); ORS § 758, et seq.; see also See Re Investigation of Qualifying Facility12

Contracting and Pricing, Docket UE 1610, Order No. 14-058 (Feb. 24, 2014) (confirming Schedule13

85 as a valid and effective rate that appropriately defines Idaho Power’s obligations under PURPA14

and appropriately determines avoided cost pricing).15

4. By failing to comply with Schedule 85, Idaho Power is failing to acknowledge16

the LEO that it has created. Idaho Power’s actions with respect to its LEO is a violation of PURPA17

and Commission orders and regulations implementing PURPA. See 18 CFR § 292.304(d)(2)(ii); In18

the Matter of Public Utility Commission of Oregon; Staffs Investigation Relating to Electric Utility19

Purchases from Qualifying Facilities, Docket UM 1129, Order 05-584 at 6 (May 13, 2005) (citing 1620

U.S.C. § 824a-3(a)-(b), 18 C.F.R. § 292.101, et seq.); see also JD Wind 1, LLC, 129 FERC ¶ 61,148,21

at 25 (Nov. 19, 2009); Cedar Creek Wind, 137 FERC ¶ 61,006, at 35-37 (Oct. 4, 2011) (finding that a22
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“legally enforceable obligation may be incurred before the formal memorialization of a contract in1

writing”).2

3

RELIEF REQUESTED4

WHEREFORE, Gardner Solar respectfully requests that the Commission issue an5

Order:6

(1) finding that Idaho Power has violated the Commission’s recent order that7

confirmed Schedule 85 as a valid and effective rate that appropriately defines8

Idaho Power’s obligations under PURPA and that appropriately determined9

avoided cost pricing;10

(2) finding that Idaho Power has violated federal law, including PURPA and the11

regulations promulgated under PURPA;12

(3) finding that Idaho power has not satisfied its obligations under Schedule 85 by13

intentionally refusing to process ESA applications;14

(4) requiring Idaho Power to comply with Schedule 85 and its LEO by providing a15

ESAs to six Gardner Solar QF projects identified above at current avoided cost16

rates to fulfill its obligations under federal and state law; and17

(5) granting such other relief as the Commission determines is necessary and just18

and reasonable.19
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Respectfully submitted this 18th day of May, 2015.

FOLEY & LARDNER LLP

By /s/ Thomas McCann Mullooly
Thomas McCann Mullooly
Shao-Ying Mautner
Kurt R. Rempe
Foley & Lardner LLP
3000 K Street N.W. #600
Washington, DC 20007-5109

Attorneys for Complainant – Gardner Capital Solar
Development, LLC
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Q. State your name and business address.1

A. Joe Benga, 1414 East Primrose, Suite 100 Springfield, Missouri 65804.2

Q. What is your occupation and by whom are you employed?3

A. I am Senior Vice President & General Manager of Solar Development at Gardner Capital4

Solar Development, LLC (“Gardner Solar”). Gardner Solar’s address is 1414 East5

Primrose, Suite 100 Springfield, Missouri 65804. I have been with Gardner Solar for ten6

months. In my role at Gardner Solar, I am responsible for all national solar development7

activities.8

Q. Please describe your background in the solar industry?9

A. Since 2003, I have directed the installation of over 250 megawatts of solar installations,10

including utility-scale and smaller systems. I have worked on projects for Chevron, Google,11

Disney Studios, California Institute of Technology, The North Face, and Sony Studios. I also12

directed the design, costing, and planning for an additional one gigawatt of solar projects.13

Q. What is the nature of Gardner Solar’s activities?14

A. Gardner Solar is a leading developer of utility-scale solar projects that is currently developing15

six qualifying facility (“QF”) projects in the state of Oregon.16

Q. What is the purpose of this testimony?17

A. This testimony is to provide factual support for Gardner Solar’s Complaint before the Public18

Utility Commission of Oregon (the “Commission”)19

Q. Are you including any supporting materials or exhibits with this testimony?20

A. Yes. Attached to this testimony are true and correct copies of Gardner Solar’s correspondence21

with Idaho Power, which is identified as Exhibits 101-106 and identified in my testimony22

below.23
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Q. Please describe how Gardner Solar’s activities relate to Idaho Power.1

A. On April 7, 2015, Gardner Solar submitted formal requests to Idaho Power for five separate2

Schedule 85 Energy Sales Agreements (“ESA”) with current long-term standard avoided cost3

prices for its Olds Ferry Solar, Owyhee Solar, Malheur River Solar, Cooper Solar, Fourth Ave4

Solar QF projects that it is developing in Oregon. (Exhibit 101) Idaho Power acknowledged5

receipt of these applications by e-mail that same day. (Exhibit 102) Gardner Solar submitted6

a formal Schedule 85 ESA request to Idaho Power for a sixth project, Fairway Solar, on May7

6, 2015. (Exhibit 103) Idaho Power has not acknowledged receipt of Gardner Solar’s8

application for the Fairway Solar project.9

Q. What legal requirements were triggered when Gardner Solar submitted its formal10

requests under Schedule 85?11

A. Schedule 85 is Idaho Power’s tariff implementing standard contracts for QFs pursuant to12

PURPA. It requires that Idaho Power provide Gardner Solar within 15 business days13

following receipt of each completed application a draft ESA including current standard14

avoided cost prices.15

Q. Did Idaho Power provide ESAs for any of Gardner Solar’s QF projects?16

A. No. For the initial five projects, Idaho Power responded by letter to Gardner Solar on April17

27, 2015. (Exhibit 104) In the letter, Idaho Power acknowledged that it was in receipt of18

Gardner Solar’s applications but it did not include the required draft ESAs with current19

standard avoided cost pricing. (Id.)20

Q. Did Idaho Power indicate that Gardner Solar’s applications for ESAs were insufficient21

or that its QF projects were otherwise ineligible?22

A. No.23
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Q. Did Idaho Power provide any explanation as to its failure?1

Idaho Power’s April 27, 2015 letter informed Gardner Solar that it had filed a motion with the2

Commission to stay its obligation to enter into new ESAs with QFs pending the outcome of3

three accompanying applications that were filed with its motion. (Exhibit 104) Idaho Power4

further stated that its letter would serve as its response within 15 business days to Gardner5

Solar’s applications for the ESAs under Schedule 85.6

Q. Did Gardner Solar respond to Idaho Power’s April 27, 2015 letter?7

A. Yes. On April 28, 2015, Gardner Solar sent Idaho Power a letter requesting that they8

reconsider their actions with respect to projects that have already submitted Schedule 859

requests. (Exhibit 105)10

Q. Did Idaho Power respond to your April 27, 2015 letter?11

A. Yes. On May 8, 2015, Idaho Power responded to our letter and stated that it has no legal12

obligation to provide draft ESAs. (Exhibit 106)13

Q. What is it that you want the Commission to do?14

A. On behalf of Gardner Solar, I request that the Commission require Idaho Power to comply15

with federal and state law and fulfill its Schedule 85 obligations and provide draft ESAs with16

current long-term standard avoided cost prices for the six separate applications that Gardner17

Solar submitted to Idaho Power prior to the date that it filed its motion to stay with the18

Commission.19

Q. Does this conclude your testimony?20

A. Yes.21
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Dated this 18th day of May, 2015.

By
/s/ Joe Benga
Joe Benga
Senior Vice President & General Manager of Solar Development
Gardner Capital Solar Development, LLC
(415) 760-3193
jbenga@gardnercapital.com
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LIST OF EXHIBITS

1. Exhibit 100 Direct Testimony of Joe Benga

2. Exhibit 101 (April 7, 2015 email from Gardner Solar to Idaho Power for five separate

Schedule 85 ESAs)

3. Exhibit 102 (April 7, 2015 email from Idaho Power to Gardner Solar acknowledging receipt

of Schedule 85 ESA applications)

4. Exhibit 103 (May 6, 2015 email from Gardner Solar to Idaho Power for a Schedule 85 ESA

for Fairway Solar)

5. Exhibit 104 (April 27, 2015 letter from Idaho Power to Gardner Solar informing Gardner

Solar of their Motion to stay obligations to enter into new Schedule 85 ESAs)

6. Exhibit 105 (April 28, 2015 letter from Gardner Solar to Idaho Power requesting Idaho Power

reconsider their actions with respect to projects that already submitted Schedule 85 requests)

7. Exhibit 106 (May 8, 2015 letter from Idaho Power to Gardner Solar stating Idaho Power has

no legal obligation to provide draft Schedule 85 ESAs)




































































